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Pigh Street

Notes contributed by Mrs. W. J. Phelan and Mrs.
T. Lanigan

WE all know the plaque at the end of James’s Street,
which says “ High Street, built in 1200 — widened
in 1860.” The date 1200 fits in with all our reading. Bishop
Hugh le Rous gave permission to the Earl Marshall to build
a way which was a necessity to the dwellers in the Castle
to reach the Cathedral of St. Canice. We must remember
that St. Canice’s was the middle of Kilkenny, the most
important part in Gaelic times. The building of the Castle
and the probable increase in its inhabitants from
McGillaphadrig’s days meant increased traffic to the
Cathedral and a way was imperative. John Hogan has
studied the period of the last 25 years of the 12th century
and the first years of the 13th, and it is his considered
opinion that the first route from the Cathedral lay along
the present Parliament Street, Kieran Street and from
there through the now Rose Inn Street to the Castle. The
way through the High town was made a little later, and
the date 1200 is as accurate as we need.

It is, of course, not necessary to state that no stone
houses lined this way in 1200. Wooden, or wicker, or clay
constructions were probably the first. Our first date for a
building is 1400, when the original Tholsel was probably
built on the site of the Munster and Leinster Bank. Later
medieval houses with pointed gables were followed by
Elizabethan structures. Remains of these latter can be seen
in the octagonal chimney and mullioned windows in the
Archer House, in the Langton House and in Dr. Crotty’s
House in Patrick Street. The line of the way is fundamen-
tally the same since 1200, and to-day we have the privilege
of treading along it, and trying to point out and describe
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some of its antiquities. We are also trying to mention some
of its former inhabitants and their dwellings, and to recount
some recent events.

With our backs to the Bank of Ireland, we will walk
up the left hand side of the street, and try to say some-
thing about each house if at all possible.

We first met Callinan’s Yard, a Livery and Coaching
Stable from the days of Bianconi down. It is still used in
a small way for its former purpose. Callinans lived in this
house, on the north side of the livery yard, now occupied
by Mrs. Lee, where Mahon and McPhillips have their office.
It was recently Mr. Frank Clohosey’s office and before him
Dr. Stevenson’s residence. The Callinans also owned the
Victoria Hotel, now the Munster & Leinster Bank, and were
great benefactors of our Catholic Churches. They gave a
Rosary Altar to the Black Abbey and some statuary to the
Cathedral. The last member of the family to live in
Kilkenny, we think, was Mrs. Teevan.

Next we come to Willoughbys. The Willoughbys have
been in these premises for 80 years. Honest John, as he
was called, came here from his shop in High Street, now
occupied by Purcell’s bakery, practically opposite the en-
trance to Walkin Street. He opened here having served his
time at Lawless’s, a jeweller in Rose-Inn Street, where A.
and T. Pierts’ premises are now. (These in their turn were
once Morrissey’s the Saddlers). Willoughby’'s were once a
licensed premises. Miss Willoughby’s office was a tap
room and she thinks it may once have belonged to the
Victoria Hotel, but Mr. Willoughby did not buy it from
Callinans, but from a Solicitor in New Ross, named Carr.
Miss Willoughby’s sitting room, looking up Patrick Street,
was once a Billiard Room, and possibly some kind of club.
Some of our county folk played here. A lovely room it is.

Right outside the clock, Mr. Willoughby said, the
gallows used to hang in the days when, according to a very
strong tradition, a jail stood here. Miss Willoughby records
that when the Willoughby family arrived here the Carrigans
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proved to be kind and welcoming neighbours. Mr.
Willoughby was a very interested and staunch member of
the old Society. He owned Rothe’s house at the time the
Confederation Flag was found there and he presented it to
the Kilkenny Museum, then in Butler House. This flag is
in 63, Merrion Square, the rooms of the R.S.A.L

The Hackett family lived in the Hibernian Bank house
before it became a Bank, and Miss Willoughby remembers
this brilliant family very well indeed when they were all
young. They had a passion for plays and dressing up. She
little dreamt that these high spirited children would later
attain great distinction in the world of art and letters.

Next we come to Carrigans. The present owner is the
fourth of his name here. Simon Morris, who owned the
Club House Hotel, bought these premises from Smithwick’s
Brewery and Carrigans bought it from him. It is one of the
few premises in High Street that have not changed hands
for the last 100 years. The Carrigans were relations of Mr.
T. Shearman, who owned the Archer House a 100 years ago,
when the Rev. Mr. Graves wrote of it, and of Fr. Shearman,
distinguished Archaeologist, who wrote ‘Loca Patriciana.’
From Carrigan’s, in 1883, the mail car set out for Callan and
Castlecomer. Croke was the name of the Castlecomer
driver, and Molloy- of the Callan driver. We think this Mr.
Molloy was an ancestor of the Sculptors of Callan. Mr.
Carrigan remembers the remains of a gallows, of a wheel
banders and a smithy in the garden behind his home.

The Munster & Leinster Bank is built on the site of
the Victoria Hotel, in its turn built on the site of the old
Tholsel and .perhaps the old Jail. This old Tholsel was the
first of its kind in Kilkenny and was the seat of the Civic
Government of the town probably built about 1400.
Remains of it were still visible to John Hogan when he was
alive in the last years of the last century. He lived next
door and probably took an intense interest in it. When the
Tholsel was removed to the present site, opposite the
Monster House is not known to us. Colonel Askell of 1793




































